
 

 
 

 

 

   

AGENDA 
Town of Nags Head Planning Board 

Nags Head Municipal Complex Board Room 
Tuesday, June 21st, 2016; 2:30 pm 

 
A.  Call To Order 
 
B.  Approval of Agenda 
 
C.  Public Comment/Audience Response 
 
D. Approval of Minutes  –  May 17, 2016 
 
E.  Action Items   

 
1. Consideration of a text amendment request submitted by Derrick Hatchell on behalf of IG Holdings, 

LLC to amend Town Code Section 48-407 (c)(9) to remove the requirement for an attendant at car 
wash facilities. 
 

2. Consideration of a major subdivision request submitted by Ray Meekins of Seaboard Surveying on 
behalf of the property owner under contract, Bradford Alexander for creation of a two-lot subdivision 
with associated subdivision variance requests.  The property is zoned Village at Nags Head SPD-C, 
Commercial-2 District and is the vacant lot located just east of Cotton Gin, Lot 25 Elliott Estates and 
Parcel Number 027839079.   
 

F.  Report on Board of Commissioners Actions 
 

1. Public Hearing for Site Plan approval for Dowdy Park Phase I Improvements located at 3005 S. 
Croatan Highway – Approved as presented.  
 

2. Public Hearing for the Vested Right/Conditional Use/Site Plan Amendment submitted by VHB 
Engineering on behalf of the Dare County Tourism Board for modifications to the previously 
approved site plan for the Outer Banks Event Site – Approved with modification to parking 
requirements and contingent upon compliance with conditions cited by the Town Engineer and 
Deputy Fire Chief. 

 
3. Public Hearing to consider amendments to the Town’s sign ordinance to ensure content neutral 

language and regulations pertaining to residential freestanding signage – Board tabled consideration 
until July 6, 2016 meeting for staff to address language for outdoor advertising and yard sale signs.   
 

G.  Town Updates – as requested 
 

1. Update on Focus Nags Head 
 

2. Update on Sea Level Rise 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 

 
H.  Discussion Items 
 

1. Continued discussion of Cottage Courts as permissible uses within the Town. 
 

I.  Planning Board Members’ Agenda 
 
J.  Planning Board Chairman’s Agenda 
 
K.  Adjournment 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

1 

Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board 

May 17, 2016 
-DRAFT - 

 

 
The Planning Board of the Town of Nags Head met in regular session on Tuesday, May 17, 2016 in 
the Board Room at the Nags Head Municipal Complex.   

 
Chairman Mark Cornwell called the meeting to order at 2:30 p.m. as a quorum was present. 
 
Members Present 
 
Mark Cornwell, Ben Reilly, Clyde Futrell, Kate Murray, Mike Siers, Jim Troutman, Pogie Worsley  

 
Members Absent 
 

None 
 
Others Present 
 
Andy Garman, Kelly Wyatt, David Ryan, Lily Nieberding 
 

Approval of Agenda 
 
There being no changes to the agenda, Ben Reilly moved that it be approved as submitted. Jim 

Troutman seconded the motion and it passed by unanimous vote. 
 
Public Comment/Audience Response 
 

None 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
There being no changes, Ben Reilly moved that the minutes be approved as presented. Jim Troutman 
seconded the motion and it passed by unanimous vote. 

 
 
Action Items 
 
Consideration of the Dowdy Park Phase I Site Development Plan (Town of Nags Head), located at 
3005 S. Croatan Highway. 
 
Deputy Planning Director Kelly Wyatt presented a site plan on behalf of the Town of Nags Head for 
the development of Phase I improvements for Dowdy Park, the property located at 3005 S. Croatan 

Highway. The property is zoned C-2, General Commercial District. Phase I includes initial site 
preparation, children’s play areas, construction of event plaza and pavilion, community art and 
expression spaces, multi-purpose event green, walking trails, fitness stations, vehicular access and 

associated drainage and utility infrastructure. 
 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

2 

Ms. Wyatt reviewed the Zoning Classification of the surrounding properties: the properties to the 
north of this site, directly across Bonnett Street, are zoned C-2, General Commercial (The French 

Door) and R-3, High Density Residential. The properties to the east of the site, directly across 
Wrightsville Avenue are also zoned R-3, High Density Residential. The property west of this site, 
directly across U.S. 158, is zoned C-2, General Commercial (YMCA) and directly to the south is Nags 

Head Elementary School. 
 
The Flood Hazard Zone of the property is AE 10. The elevation of all new construction must meet the 

Regulatory Flood Protection Elevation of 11 ft. mean sea level. This phase of development only 
includes the Pavilion structure and it is compliant. 
 

The Land Use Plan classification for this property is Park Open Space – private. This proposal is 
consistent with this land use classification; however it will be changed to “Public” during the next 
Land Use Revision. 
 

Ms. Wyatt noted “Municipally-owned recreation facilities” is a Permitted Use within the C-2, General 

Commercial Zoning District.  Allowable lot coverage for this site is 55%. Lot development coverage for 
Phase I construction will total 23.50% lot coverage.  
 

The maximum allowable height within the Town is 35 ft. The proposed height of the pavilion is 
approximately 17.5 ft. therefore height is compliant. Compliance with the architectural design 
standards is unnecessary as the pavilion is considered an accessory structure. 



Required parking for this project is being provided in compliance with two related standards. Based 
upon these combined standards a total of thirty-seven (37) parking spaces are required; forty (40) 
parking spaces have been provided therefore parking is compliant. 

 
Ms. Wyatt reviewed the site’s compliance with the Town’s Buffering and Landscaping requirements as 
well as Lighting requirements. Ms. Wyatt noted that the submitted lighting plan is compliant with the 

ordinance however as costs begin to accumulate for Phase I of the park the lighting fixtures may be 
revised.  
 

Proposed signage has not been submitted at this time however any freestanding and wall signage 
would be reviewed and approved prior to issuance of zoning and building permits. 
 

No sanitary sewage facilities are planned with the Phase I development plan; temporary sewage 
needs will be addressed by the use of porta-johns. 
 

Comments related to Stormwater Management and Public Works are addressed within the Project 
Narrative. The proposed parking lot design has been laid out in accordance with all Town Code 
requirements. 

 
Ms. Wyatt also noted that the project will be required to comply with all applicable NC Fire Prevention 
Code requirements as part of building permit application review and issuance. 

 
Staff would submit that the proposed scope of work for the Phase I development of Dowdy Park is 
consistent with all required use and development standards and based upon their review would 
recommend approval of the Site Plan request as presented. 

 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

3 

Ms. Murray asked if the Board would be approving just the site layout and buffering or if it also 
included the landscape plan and other items. Ms. Wyatt confirmed that they were being asked to 

approve the site plan, the landscape plan and all Phase I improvements. 
 
Ms. Wyatt confirmed for Ms. Murray that irrigation was being proposed for the site. John DeLucia with 

Albemarle & Associates stated that a plan was in the works.  
 
Town Engineer David Ryan gave a brief summary of the proposed irrigation system which include 

sprinkler heads, infiltration areas and drip irrigation. Ms. Murray expressed concern about the viability 
of some of the plants on the list.  
 

Mr. Ryan confirmed for Ms. Murray that there is a landscaping berm proposed along a length of the 
parking lot for stormwater containment. 
 

Mr. Reilly asked about the plans for the path that currently connects the site to Nags Head 
Elementary School. Mr. Ryan confirmed that the plan is to keep the path but move it slightly so that it 
aligns better with the School property sidewalk. Chairman Cornwell asked Ms. Wyatt to add a 

crosswalk as a recommendation from the Planning Board. 
 
Mr. Ryan confirmed for Mr. Cornwell that they had not seen any flooding issues at the site since the 

demo and preliminary site work was completed. 
 
Ben Reilly moved to recommend approval of the proposed site plan. Jim Troutman seconded the 

motion and it passed by unanimous vote. 
 

Consideration of a text amendment request submitted by Derek Hatchell on behalf of IG Holdings, 
LLC to amend Town Code Section 48-407 (c)(9) to remove the requirement for an attendant at car 
wash facilities. 
 
Ms. Wyatt stated that Mr. Derek Hatchell on behalf of I.G. Holdings, LLC, had submitted a zoning 
ordinance text amendment application, which, if adopted, would eliminate the need for an attendant 

to be present on-site during all hours of operation of a car wash. 
 
In the zoning text amendment application, the applicant has cited the desire to no longer require an 

attendant be present onsite as it is not necessary given that the car wash would be fully automated. 
 
Ms. Wyatt noted that there is significant history with the allowance of an attended car wash as a use 

within the Town dating back to September 20, 1988 when the discussions first arose with the 
Planning Board through September 6, 1989 when parking standards for car washes was discussed 
and later adopted. Ms. Wyatt proceeded to review for the Board the current conditions that must be 

met for the operation of a car wash. 
 
Based upon the history of discussion surrounding the previous Board’s desires for any car wash to 
have an attendant on-site during all hours of operation, Planning Staff recommends denial of the 

proposed text amendment as presented. 
 
John DeLucia, Albemarle & Associates, spoke on behalf of the applicant. Mr. DeLucia stated he was 

around for some of the initial discussions regarding car washes. In those days there were no Car 
Washes on the beach, just along the highway in Currituck and those were not appealing. Since that 
time car washes have come a long way. Mr. Hatchell owns and operates several car washes in the 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

4 

area and is experienced in running them. There is an attendant that goes to the car wash every day, 
at least once a day to ensure that the site is clean and maintained in proper working condition. Mr. 

DeLucia noted that the car washes of today are pretty benign, quiet and clean so it is not necessary 
to have an attendant at the car wash all the time. 
 

Mr. DeLucia noted that there is not another car wash facility in Nags Head. Someone coming from 
Oregon Inlet would need to either go to Manteo or to Kill Devil Hills to get the salt and sand off their 
vehicle. Mr. DeLucia also stated that the Division of Water Quality will not permit a discharging car 

wash anymore so the water must be recycled; Mr. DeLucia noted that the equipment has gotten 
much more efficient since 1988. Finally Mr. DeLucia stated that the building can be made to look 
attractive by requiring certain architectural elements. 

 
Ms. Murray inquired if the existing car washes have video cameras and if there have been any 
problems. Mr. DeLucia was unsure but did not think they had cameras and stated he thought there 

may have been a break-in at the location in Columbia. 
 
Mr. Worsley inquired if they operate 24 hours or if they have certain hours of operation. Mr. DeLucia 

was unsure but noted that they have the ability to close them with the use of garage doors. Mr. 
Worsley noted that the car wash in Kitty Hawk has undergone a total renovation – went fully 
automated. 

 
Mr. DeLucia confirmed for Mr. Troutman that they have found that the new recycling systems work 
really well. They use very little water; the chemicals that are used are “green” and they are strictly 

reviewed by DWQ.  
 
Mr. Futrell expressed concern about possible problems with security, vandalism, littering, etc. at an 

unattended facility. He noted the self-service ice machine in Manteo as an example of an unattended 
service that can be a benefit to have if it works, but (can stand out like) a sore thumb if it doesn’t.  
 
Mr. Reilly stated he had read about issues with homeless behind the unattended car was in Kill Devil 

Hills and that security was one of his concerns. 
 
Chairman Cornwell stated that the technology has come a long way. New car washes will conserve 

water because of recycling activity at site. Mr. Cornwell acknowledged that it is a business that would 
generate revenue for the Town; revenue that is currently going elsewhere.  Mr. Cornwell also did not 
think it needs a full-time attendant, unless the Town wants a full service facility. He noted that hours 

of operation can be controlled by timed shut offs and that they could require security cameras. 
Chairman Cornwell also noted that they could require design points to get the Nags Head look and 
they could restrict it to the C2 district on 158. 

 
Ms. Wyatt noted that if the Board was inclined to recommend approval of the revised ordinance they 
should make note of the difference between an “open” and an “enclosed” facility and whether the 50 

feet setback from residential is sufficient for an open type facility especially if there are vacuum 
stations. 
 

Ms. Wyatt explained for Mr. Worsley that in her view an open facility was more like the one in Kill 
Devil Hills with several open bays, while a closed one is more like the one that is located in Kitty 
Hawk; a single bay where cars line up and proceed through in an orderly fashion. 

 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

5 

Mr. DeLucia stated that the car wash in Kitty Hawk is open on two sides when it’s operating and is 
near residential. If a 50 foot setback is adequate for gas and service stations then car washes should 

be similar. 
Mr. DeLucia agreed that the vacuums should be setback further away from residences due to noise 
concerns. 

 
Mr. Reilly noted that having an attendant ensures set hours of operation thereby reducing noise 
pollution and also limits water usage. A facility can be self-contained but with all the salt and sand, 

that water can only be recycled so much, eventually they have to add fresh water. With the water 
and the chemicals and the noise pollution without having an attendant there it doesn’t make sense. 
Mr. Reilly noted that even on the bypass there are still residential areas all around. 

 
Mr. Futrell disagreed noting that more noise pollution comes from people with turned up radios; noise 
from car washes and vacuums can be controlled. 

 
Mr. Troutman agreed stating that buffering and a 50 foot setback would be more than adequate 
where noise is concerned. 

 
Ms. Wyatt confirmed for Chairman Cornwell that if the Board was so inclined, they could recommend 
approval as presented or they could add conditions to the approval. 

 
Mr. DeLucia reminded the Board that it would be a conditional use so at site plan submittal the Board 
could also add conditions. 

 
Mr. Futrell suggested adding a condition that would require an attendant to come by at least twice a 
day and also put some hours of operation. 

 
Mr. Worsley moved to recommend approval of the text amendment with some conditions: security 
cameras in spots of vulnerability, wordsmith the word enclosed to mean that the ends can be open 
but the building must have a roof and meet architectural standards; have an attendant come a 

minimum of twice a day maybe even more during peak times; consider adding controlled hours of 
operation; can only be located in the C2 zoning district, fronting US 158 and no freestanding vacuums 
within 50 feet of residences. 

 
After some further discussion, Mr. Worsley withdrew his motion and instead moved to table the item 
until next meeting to give Staff a chance to research and incorporate the suggested conditions into a 

revised amendment. Mr. Futrell seconded the motion and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
Mr. DeLucia thanked the Board and invited all to visit the Outer Banks National scenic byway which 

recently received new signs and which he stated is probably the last scenic byway to be designated in 
the country due to lack of funding for that program. 
 

Consideration of an amendment to Town Code Section 48-90 – Exclusion from lot coverage 
calculation that would exempt municipal pedestrian ways (sidewalks, boardwalks) located on private 
property from lot coverage. 
 
Deputy Town Manager Andy Garman explained that the Town has been looking at the feasibility of 

constructing a public boardwalk along the sound-front in the Commercial Outdoor Recreation Overlay 
district. Since the boardwalk would be constructed within easements on private property, the Town’s 
Soundside Boardwalk Committee as well as the Town Board of Commissioners has requested that the 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

6 

Planning Board consider ordinance amendments that would exempt the boardwalk from ordinance 
requirements that would impact private development rights. Since the boardwalk would count against 

individual minimum lot coverage limits and could not cross property lines due to prescribed setback 
requirements, a proposed ordinance has been drafted to exclude the boardwalk from these 
requirements.  

 
Additionally, Mr. Garman noted that this ordinance has been applied to any other municipal sidewalks, 
walkways, or multi-use pathways. This would be particularly useful if the Town were to ever construct 

a sidewalk or multi-use path on private property for public use. Mr. Garman gave as an example the 
Shoppes @ 10.5 where there’s been recent discussion about the Town trying to get an easement 
from the property owner in order to extend the sidewalk from the light at 158 down along the north 

side of that property towards Wrightsville Avenue. This proposed ordinance would exempt the 
sidewalk from lot coverage calculations and make it easier for the Town to work with property owners 
on Town projects. 

 
Mr. Futrell stated he had no issue with the sound side boardwalk but was concerned about possible 
Stormwater issues at the Shoppes @ 10.5 if the sidewalk is exempt. For Mr. Futrell there is a 

difference between a boardwalk and a sidewalk when it comes to lot coverage. 
 
Mr. Worsley stated he had been part of the Stormwater committee and did not see any issues with 

installing a sidewalk there; a sidewalk is a public safety thing and he did not see there being a 
Stormwater issue. 
 

Mr. Garman concurred stating that there are several Stormwater basins along that north side of the 
Shoppes @ 10.5 so if the Town was granted an easement they would work with the property owner 
in revising their Stormwater plan prior to installing the sidewalk.  

 
Mr. Reilly inquired about the status on getting easements for the sound side boardwalk. Mr. Garman 
stated that it is an ongoing thing; the Town’s focus has been from Tanger Outlets to the north (Phase 
I) which will be easier to get than going south (Phase II). Most property owners seem willing but the 

Town does not have official easements as of yet. The wetland and the survey work were the first 
step. Mr. Garman noted that this project is on a minimum three to five year plan but the Board would 
like to preserve the work that has already been done. 

 
Mr. Siers inquired about the plans to connect South Ridge to the Beach Road. Mr. Garman noted that 
there have been a lot of comments received from property owners in that neighborhood and that is 

one of the higher priority links for the Town. There are several of these high priority projects that are 
all competing for the same money. 
 

Ben Reilly moved to recommend approval of the proposed amendment; Mike Siers seconded and the 
motion passed unanimously. 
 

Report on Board of Commissioners Actions 
 
Ms. Wyatt reported on recent Board Actions: 

 
The Public Hearing for the proposed zoning ordinance text amendment to list “municipally-owned 
recreation facilities” as a permitted use within the C-2, General Commercial Zoning District, was 

approved. 
 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

7 

Two Public Hearings were scheduled for the June 6, 2016 Board of Commissioners meeting: the 
ordinance amendments to modify the Town’s signage regulations to ensure content neutral language 

and the Dowdy Park Phase I Site Development Plan. 
 
Town Updates 
 
Focus Nags Head  
 

Mr. Garman stated that this project is still in process. They have finished with a lot of the initial 
advisory committee work. Staff has been working with the consultants doing additional key 
stakeholder interviews. They will soon be bringing the vision statement that is currently in draft form, 

to the BOC for their review and this will lay the groundwork for the rest of the plan. Once that is 
approved they will begin to bring sections of the plan back to the advisory committee and the Board 
for their comments. 

 
Sea Level Rise  
 

Mr. Garman stated that Staff received a Draft report back from Jess Whitehead of NC Sea Grant. Staff 
gave additional comments for Ms. Whitehead to revise the report, and is currently waiting on those 
revisions.  Staff is looking to schedule a meeting on June 13th with the working group (formed by the 

BOC and which includes Planning Board member Mark Cornwell and Kate Murray) to give them a 
chance to go through the plan and make sure that it captures everything that was discussed. From 
there Staff will bring the report back to the Commissioners for approval and begin to see how they 

will build Sea Level Rise into planning activities such as Shoreline Management, Stormwater 
Management and Focus Nags Head. 
 

Discussion Items 
 
Discussion of Cottage Courts as permissible uses within the Town. 
 

Mr. Garman continued the discussion on the possibility of adding Cottage Courts back as a 
permissible use within the Town. 
 

For the past 30 years, cottage courts have been considered a nonconforming use by the Town’s 
ordinance, therefore, no expansions to these properties have been allowed except for general 
maintenance and repairs.  

 
Last year the Planning Board and Board of Commissioners reviewed regulations pertaining to cottage 
courts which resulted in modifications to the ordinance and which now allow Staff and the Board of 

Commissioners to approve repairs, additions and expansions to existing cottage court properties. 
However, cottage courts were not removed as a nonconforming use. Consequently, it is still not 
possible to develop a new cottage court within the town except as allowed in the residential group 

development ordinance which was approved in late 2014. In these cases, only existing 
nonconforming lots of record may be recombined to create a cluster housing development and this is 
allowed under very specific circumstances. 

 
During the course of working on revisions to the Town’s land use plan and zoning ordinance 
(Focus Nags Head), there has been much discussion about diversity of accommodations. One main 

goal expressed is to improve the variety of accommodations within the Town, including transient uses 
such as hotels and cottage courts, to provide more opportunities for short-stay visitors. While the 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

8 

Town has made a number of changes to the ordinance over the years to promote hotel development, 
it has been noted by the Focus Advisory Committee that cottage courts may represent a more viable 

alternative to hotels from a development and from a land use compatibility standpoint. As the Town 
continues to experience the loss of older hotels and motels, there is a renewed sense of urgency to 
consider the expansion of the cottage court as a viable use of property. 

 
Mr. Garman explained that last month the Planning Board agreed to initiate a text amendment to add 
cottage courts as a use within the Town’s zoning ordinance and to develop appropriate standards for 

regulating these uses. Staff has now begun collecting information to assist the Planning Board 
through the ordinance drafting process.  
 

Staff previously developed a list of cottage courts within the Town along with information on the 
number of units and photographs of buildings in each cottage court. Staff has now developed a map 
depicting the location of these cottage courts for the Planning Board’s reference. The map also shows 

the number of units and the acreage of each property. Mr. Garman noted that a primary 
consideration for these regulations will be to determine where the cottage court uses are most 
appropriately located. 

 
Based on this map information, most existing cottage courts are located on parcels fronting NC 12 or 
SR 1243 (South Old Oregon Inlet Road) or on parcels east of these roadways where there is easy 

access to the ocean. These properties are in the R-2, C-2, and CR zoning districts. Generally no 
cottage courts are located in the R-1 (historic district) or SPD-C (Village at Nags Head) zoning 
districts. Areas of town further west along Memorial or Wrightsville Avenues, in private or public 

streets west of SR 1243, and areas west of US 158 consist of primarily single family homes with fewer 
transient uses such as cottage courts or hotels.  
 

Some of the standards the Planning Board will want to consider will include the number of units on 
each site, the density of units per acre, the square footage of each unit, building height, separation 
between buildings, property line setbacks, lot coverage by zoning district, whether cottage courts will 
be restricted to transient users similar to hotels, and building design requirements.  

 
The Planning Board may want to visit existing cottage courts and determine which properties provide 
a model for the Board to examine moving forward. These would be properties that provide the look 

and feel that the Town may want to emulate with these new regulations. 
 
Enclosed in the agenda packet were some reference materials that may be helpful in exploring the 

types of requirements that will need to be considered moving forward. Mr. Garman referenced a 
cottage housing ordinance developed by a community in Washington State. While not all the 
information in this document will translate well to the Town, it does provide relevant background 

information that may help the Planning Board frame its discussion on cottage courts.  
 
Mr. Garman also referenced the Town’s existing ordinance on residential group developments which 

was adopted in 2014. Although this was written to specifically apply to properties where multiple non-
conforming lots of record are being combined, it could be redrafted and expanded to a larger area of 
town with the addition of other appropriate standards. 

 
One option to consider would be to allow cottage courts in the R-2, C-2, and CR zoning districts as a 
conditional use with criteria that requires frontage on NC 12 or 1243 or east of these roadways. Mr. 

Garman stated that a good starting point would be for the Planning Board to review the map and 
discuss where these uses would be most appropriate. 



Town of Nags Head 
Planning Board Minutes  May 2016 

 

9 

Mr. Garman confirmed for Mr. Reilly that the ordinance adopted in 2014 was proposed by developer 
Eddie Goodrich and allows one unit with up to five bedrooms per 7500 SF of land area. Mr. Garman 

stated they may want to look at size – large units appeal to longer rental periods while smaller units 
appeal to more transient, shorter stays. 
 

Chairman Cornwell agreed stating that a big issue will be whether they will be allowed to be turned 
into condos or should they be kept under one owner. 
 

Ms. Murray stated she liked the idea of keeping cottage courts on the beach road; she would also like 
to encourage the idea of them having a common area and pedestrian connectivity throughout the 
buildings. 

 
Mr. Garman will bring a draft framework of a possible ordinance to the next meeting and give more 
detail on five sample existing cottage courts and at that point the Board can review the map and 

discuss where the cottage court use may be most appropriate. One other thing to consider might be 
to allow parking underneath the units as some may now need to be elevated due to FEMA 
regulations. 

 
The possibility of forming a cottage court sub-committee was discussed and Mr. Garman suggested 
bringing in the owners of some of the existing cottage courts to assist in the development of the 

standards. This will be discussed further at the next meeting. 
 
Planning Board Members’ Agenda 
 
Mr. Worsley commended Ms. Murray on a recent Outer Banks Voice article in which she was featured. 
Ms. Murray gave a brief summary on the article which is about an app that the Nature Conservancy is 

working on which would map open space within the Towns and County. This app would inventory 
open space in floodplain areas and might help with getting points in the CRS rating system and 
ultimately help reduce flood-insurance rates. 
 

Planning Board Chairman’s Agenda 
 
Chairman Cornwell suggested limiting the information included in historical minutes in the interest of 

reducing the size of the agenda packets.  
 
Adjournment 
 
There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 4:40 PM.   
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Lily Campos Nieberding 



1 

 
 
 
 

 

Town of Nags Head 

Planning and Development Post Office Box 99 Telephone 252-441-7016 
Department Nags Head, North Carolina 27959 FAX 252-441-4290 
  www.nagsheadnc.gov 

MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Planning Board 

FROM: Kelly Wyatt, Deputy Planning Director 
 Andy Garman, Deputy Town Manager 

  
DATE: June 21, 2016 

SUBJECT: Review of Preliminary Plat for Elliott Estates, Phase III, Lot 25. 

PROJECT LOCATION:   0.47 acres located immediately east of Cotton Gin and north of 

Vitamin Sea Mixed Use development, vacant lot. 
  (Parcel No. 027839079).  
 
PROJECT ZONING:   SPD-C, Village Commercial-2; Designated SF-2. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:   Review of Preliminary Plat to subdivide existing lot into 2-lots with 
request for variances regarding access.  

Applicants Ray Meekins, Surveyor, and Mike Robinson, Engineer, are submitting the attached 

Preliminary Subdivision Plat on behalf of the current property owner, Forrest Bartlett, and the 
contract purchaser, Bradford and Sharon Alexander, for the creation of two (2) single family 
residential lots.  The lots would be created from a 20,823 square foot lot located on the east 

side of US Highway 158, the west side of NC 12 and directly east of Cotton Gin retail store. In 
conjunction with the subdivision approval, the applicant is requesting consideration of two 
subdivision variances.   

Though only two (2) lots, the proposal is being considered a “Major Subdivision” by definition 
since it does not have a compliant street access. 

DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

The applicant is proposing two single family residential lots.  The lot widths and setbacks shown 
for each lot comply with the dimensional standards set forth in the Village SF-2, Detached 
Single Family Residential District.  Proposed Lot 25-A is 11,968 square feet in area, proposed 

Lot 25-B is 8,855 square feet in area. Each proposed lot substantially exceeds the minimum lot 
requirements for single family in this district, which is 3,000 square feet.  Additionally, the 



2 

subdivision request meets the density per acre requirement of Town Code Section 48-865(f)(1).   

ACCESS 

The subdivision ordinance requires that any subdivision must have access to a public street or 
highway improved to the standards of the Town or the State Department of Transportation, 
whichever is applicable, and in which the right-of-way width is in accordance with Town Code 

Section 38-151, Streets.  The development area is located on an un-named access road which 
serves multiple properties facing US 158 along the block south of Mall Drive including The 
Cotton Gin and Vitamin Sea Commercial-Residential mixed use development. With this and with 

previous requests, staff, with guidance from the Town Attorney, has completed research on this 
easement and finds the following items: 

- The easement was first platted in 1989. 

- “Division of Lot 2, Village Commercial Subdivision”, was approved, signed and recorded 
in December 1992 showing the access easement with footnote preserving use of 
easement. 

- A “Composite” Map of the Village Commercial Subdivision, dated December 19, 1995 
which shows the 24’ easement and labels it as an access easement. 

- A subdivision recorded “3/1/00 (PC E, Pg 245)” done for Sunnyside Elevator (abutting 
Weeks to the South), also showing the access easement with a footnote that the 

developer reserves rights-of-ways and easements for water…for the benefit of…”and 
others, on over, and across each lot…”  

- It has always been considered an “access easement”, not a street for the purposes of 

the subdivision ordinance. 

- While there is some indication that it has been dedicated to the Town for public use, it 
has never been accepted by the Town for public maintenance purposes. 

Without a specified limitation for use of the easement, the property adjacent to that platted 
right-of-way has access to it.  However, to meet the residential subdivision requirements, the 
applicant must bring the roadway up to public road standards.  The applicant is requesting a 

variance/waiver from this requirement as well as others. Staff will note that the applicant has 
provided the attached narrative which provides further detail on how these lots and the 
easement were created including the original plan for maintenance. 

VARIANCE/WAIVER REQUESTS 

Town Code Section 38-153(c) Lots.  

(c) Minimum amount of frontage. All lots shall be designed so that they shall front on a public 
street for a distance of not less than 50 feet which shall be measured along the right-of-way of 
such street; provided, further, that in the case of lots fronting on a cul-de-sac or street curve, 
the frontage may be reduced to not less than 30 feet upon approval of the planning board.  

Proposed Lots 25-A and 25-B do not front on a public street, rather they front on an “access 



3 

easement”; therefore, a waiver from this requirement is being requested.  

Town Code Section Sec. 38-7. Access to public street or highway required.  

There shall be no subdivision of any tract of land which does not have access to a public street 
or highway which is improved to the standards of the town or the state department of 
transportation, whichever is applicable, which access is of a right-of-way width and is improved 
in accordance with section 38-151. This section is attached for your review. 

Proposed Lots 25-A and 25-B do not have access to a public street which meets the standards 
of the town or the state department of transportation, in accordance with Town Code Section 

18-151; therefore, a waiver from this requirement is being requested. 

Town Code Section 48-77. Lot access requirements.  

No building permit shall be granted for any lot which does not abut either an improved public 

right-of-way as shown on the most recent Powell Bill Map or a street or access approved by the 
Board of Commissioners.  

By virtue of granting the requested variances to Town Code Section 38-7 and 38-153(c), this 

requirement would be met.  

Town Code Section 38-8, Subdivision Waivers and Variances, is included in your packet and 
specifies what findings are necessary in order to consider granting a subdivision 
variance/waiver.   

STORMWATER, DRAINAGE AND UTILITIES 

Please see comments from the Town Engineer and Project Manager, David Ryan in the attached 
correspondence dated June 16, 2016. This reflects updated information from the previous 

review provided to the Planning Board in November, 2015. 

These lots would be served by the Village wastewater system and will require Carolina Water 
approval for connection prior to issuance of building permits. 

OTHER 

The Fire Department has reviewed and approved the proposed Preliminary Plat. 

There are restrictive covenants which run with the property as recorded in Dare County DB 987, 

Pg. 143.  All construction plans will have to be reviewed by the Village Architectural Committee 
prior to permitting.  

Approval of this plan will convert commercially zoned property to residential use.  According to 

the 2010 Land Use Plan, once a property is residential, it cannot be rezoned to a commercial 
use.  The property in question is a transitional area between the commercial lots along US 158 
and the residential properties in existence along NC 12 as part of Elliot Estates.  As such, the 

proposed development area could lend itself to either a commercial or residential use, but has 
remained empty for many years. In accordance with the Town Code, Section 48-862, Lots 
intended for SF #1, SF #2, or SF #3 use shall be designated on the plat when recorded. 

https://library.municode.com/HTML/13763/level4/PTIICOOR_CH38SU_ARTIIIIM_DIV2ST.html#PTIICOOR_CH38SU_ARTIIIIM_DIV2ST_S38-151ST


4 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff suggests the following findings can be made in accordance with the review process: 

1. The area proposed for subdivision/redevelopment is currently zoned SPD-C which allows 
SF-2 development as a permitted use in accordance with Section 48-862. The lot width, 
lot area, and setbacks shown for both lots comply with the standards set forth in the 

zoning ordinance for lots in the Village SF-2 Detached Single-Family Residential District.   

2. Approval of the Preliminary Plat would re-designate this area on the Village Master Plan 
from a Commercial Use to the SF-2 use.  This re-designation is a concern in that it will 

result in a net loss of potential Commercial property to the Town.  However, because 
this property has remained vacant for a number of years and lacks visibility and US 158 
or NC 12 road frontage, this re-designation to a residential use is likely appropriate. 

3. Further, use of these proposed lots for residential purposes does not cause harm to 
either the businesses adjacent to the existing access road or to the existing residential 
properties abutting the proposed lots to the east.   

4. The Fire Department has reviewed and approved the proposed subdivision as proposed. 

5. The Town Engineer has reviewed the proposal and provided numerous comments in a 
correspondence attached and dated June 16, 2016.  

6. The Town Engineer has reviewed onsite Stormwater Management. Since his original 

review in November, 2015, the Town Engineer has provided the following comments 

which are included in note #8 in his memo: “Initial review of the stormwater 
management facilities proposed for this application appeared to have been designed in 
accordance with Sec 34-7 General Standards for Subdivisions. This design has also 
accounted for tributary runoff from portions of the adjoining roadway. Since the initial 
submission Public Works has monitored this parcel along with the surrounding area 
following significant rainfall events. Photographic documentation is attached that 
depicts post-rainfall conditions on the subject property, taken February 10, 2016 (Exhibit 
A) and from June 2, 2016 (Exhibit B). The photographs appear to indicate the presence of 
surfacing groundwater. It is recommended that the design engineer refine the grading 
and drainage design to account for these observed conditions and provide a minimum of 
18” of separation from the documented high water surface elevations to the established 
finished floor elevation. Approval for stormwater management facilities shall not be 
issued until this has been adequately addressed.” 

7. The Preliminary Plat meets all Town requirements at the time of submittal. 

Staff has reviewed the attached preliminary subdivision plat and recommends that it be 
approved only if compliance with the recommendations of the Town Engineer is demonstrated. 

Attachments: Subdivision Application, Request for Variance/Waiver considerations, Preliminary 
Plat, Engineering Sheets, Easement Narrative, Ordinance Excerpt, Town Engineer Memo.   































 

 

  Page 1 

Sec. 38-8. - Variances and waivers.  

(a) Variances generally. Where the planning board finds that extraordinary and unnecessary hardships 
may result from strict compliance with this chapter, it may vary the regulations contained in this 
chapter so that substantial justice may be done and the public interest secured; provided, however, 
that such variations will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of the official map, the 
master plan, such regulations or the zoning chapter, and further provided that such variations are 
approved by the board of commissioners at the time of preliminary plat approval.  

(b) Waivers generally. Where the planning board finds that, due to the special circumstances of a 
particular plat, the provision of certain required improvements is not requisite in the interest of public 
health, safety and general welfare or is inappropriate because of inadequacy or lack of connecting 
facilities adjacent or in proximity to the proposed subdivision, it may recommend and the board of 
commissioners may waive such requirements subject to appropriate conditions. Any decision of the 
planning board must be rendered by a simple majority of those members present and constituting 
three-fourths of the total membership of the planning board.  

(c) Conditions. In granting variances and modifications, the planning board may recommend and the 
board of commissioners may require such conditions as will, in its judgment, secure substantially the 
objectives of the standards or requirements so varied or modified.  

(Code 1990, § 18-10)  



 
 

 
Department of Public Works 

Administration 

Maintenance Garage 
Public Facilities Maintenance 

Sanitation 

Water Distribution  
Water Operations 

 

 

 
 

 
Ralph Barile 

Public Works Director 

 
 

David Ryan, P.E. 
Project Coordinator 

Town of Nags Head 
Post Office Box 99 

Nags Head, North Carolina 27959 

Telephone 252-441-1122 
Fax 252-441-3350 

www.nagsheadnc.gov 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:       Kelly Wyatt, Deputy Planning Director 
 
From:   David M. Ryan, P.E., Project Coordinator 
 
Date:   June 16, 2016 
 
Re:      Elliot Estates Phase III Preliminary Plat 
 

     The following outlines updated commentary from Public Works related to the revised 
application submission and review of Elliot Estates Phase III Preliminary Plat based upon the 
submitted development plan set information dated January 12, 2016 as prepared by Michael 
Robinson, P.E. and Lot 25 – Elliot Estates- Phase III plat information dated June 10, 2016 
(revised), as prepared by Seaboard Surveying; 
 

1. Preliminary Plat: A The proposed drainage swales as indicated on sheet 2 of 5 have 
been located within a 15’ utility and drainage easement and described appropriately 
on the subdivision plat. 

2. Preliminary Plat:  Operation and maintenance responsibilities for all proposed drainage 
facilities, with the exception of the right-of-way, have been defined in note 16 of the 
submitted Subdivision Plat. 

3. The Utility and Drainage Plan and Detail Sheets submitted appear to substantially 
comply with the provisions Chapter 44- Utilities of the Town Code of Ordinances.  

4. Currently, there is not a water distribution main that is adjacent to the existing subject 
property. Pursuant to Sec 44-72 “No water tap will be made except to a water line 
situated in that part of the street or right-of-way immediately abutting the lot to be 
served.” Sec 44-182(a) states the following “All mains shall be a minimum of six inches 
in diameter and shall meet the size requirement of the town engineering report 
"Improvements of the Water Distribution System," dated August, 1978.” The Town 
Waterline Extension Policy, dated October 8, 2004, requires that all water mains must 
be extended across the entire length or width of the lot.  The submitted utility plan 
provided by the design engineer reflects compliance with these provisions.  

5. A formal submittal of the proposed water main extension shall be made to the Town in 
accordance with Sec 44-183 and in advance of the construction of the proposed water 



lines. An NCDEQ Division of Water Resources Public Water Supply permit application 
shall be submitted to the Town and State for approval. 

6. Pavement testing of the adjoining private roadway has been conducted and appears to 
substantially comply with the provisions of Chapter 36- Streets, Sidewalk and Other 
Public Places.  

7. A DEQ Division of Water Resources Wastewater Collection System Extension Permit 
has been applied for and approved. A copy of this permit has been provided to the 
Town. 

8. Initial review of the stormwater management facilities proposed for this application 
appeared to have been designed in accordance with Sec 34-7 General Standards for 
Subdivisions. This design has also accounted for tributary runoff from portions of the 
adjoining roadway. Since the initial submission Public Works has monitored this parcel 
along with the surrounding area following significant rainfall events. Photographic 
documentation is attached that depicts post-rainfall conditions on the subject 
property, taken February 10, 2016 (Exhibit A) and from June 2, 2016 (Exhibit B). The 
photographs appear to indicate the presence of surfacing groundwater. It is 
recommended that the design engineer refine the grading and drainage design to 
account for these observed conditions and provide a minimum of 18” of separation 
from the documented high water surface elevations to the established finished floor 
elevation. Approval for stormwater management facilities shall not be issued until this 
has been adequately addressed.  

9. The applicant has submitted supporting documentation describing operation and 
maintenance requirements of portions of the existing asphalt roadway. It is 
recommended the Town attorney review for sufficiency. 

10. Please note that there is an existing dip in access road that is proximate to the subject 
property. The Board of Commissioners has expressed concerns regarding this existing 
pavement condition and the need for corrective action.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Exhibit A (February 10, 2016) 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 



 

 
 
Exhibit B (June 2, 2016) 
 

 

 

 



1 

STAFF REPORT 
 

TO: Planning Board  

FROM: Kelly Wyatt, Deputy Planning Director/Zoning Administrator 
 Andy Garman, Deputy Town Manager/Planning Director 

   
DATE: June 21, 2016 

SUBJECT: A proposed zoning ordinance text amendment to Town Code Section 48-

407(c)(9), Conditional Uses within the C-2, General Commercial Zoning District 
as it relates to an “Attended Car Wash” operation.   

  

SUBJECT OR MOTION(S): 
 

1. Motion to recommend adoption or denial of a text amendment to Town Code 

Sections 48-407(c)(9) to eliminate the requirement that a car wash have an 
attendant.   

 
BACKGROUND:  

 
Mr. Derek Hatchell on behalf of I.G. Holdings, LLC, has submitted the attached zoning 
ordinance text amendment application, which, if adopted, would eliminate the need for an 

attendant to be present on-site during all hours of operation of a car wash.   
 
In the zoning text amendment application, the applicant has cited the desire to no longer 

require an attendant be present onsite as it is not necessary given that the car wash would be 
fully automated.   
 

There is significant history with the allowance of an attended car wash as a use within the 
Town dating back to 1988 when the discussions first arose with the Planning Board.  Below is a 
brief summary: 

 
- September 20, 1988 – Request presented to the Planning Board to include “Car Wash” 

as a Permitted or Conditional Use within the C-2 Zoning District.  At this meeting the 

Planning Board felt there was a need to regulate the operation via Conditional Use 
approval with such conditions as limiting the hours of operation and requiring an 
attendant on-site. 

 
- October 18, 1988 – Presentation to the Planning Board on the use of a car wash as a 

Conditional Use with specified conditions including that the car wash be enclosed and 

fully automated under the direct operation of an attendant and that the hours of 
operation be limited to 9:00am to 9:00pm.  The applicant at this time expressed concern 
that the requirement the car wash be enclosed would eliminate the open bay/wand 

operation.  The Planning Board felt this type of operation would promote noise, trash 
and congestion and continued with the recommendation of an enclosed building.  The 
Planning Board recommended adoption of the ordinance with development standards as 

presented.   
 



2 

- December 20, 1988 – Planning Board tabled discussion as the applicant was present to 
discuss the proposal. 

 
- January 17, 1989 – Planning staff presented the request once more to the Planning 

Board following the applicant’s assertion that the original request, to allow a self-service 

type car wash operation as well as automated, was not decided upon by the Board of 
Commissioners.  The Planning Director presented the proposed conditions including the 
request for self-service car washes.  Planning staff recommended against this because 

of the increased potential that an unattended, self-regulating business may create 
problems related to noise and litter control.  While the Planning Board felt that a car 
wash might likely be needed within the Town they did not feel that this was the type 

that was desired.  The Planning Board forwarded the request to the Board of 
Commissioners for the final decision with their recommendation of denial. 
 

- March 6, 1989 – The Board of Commissioners held the Public Hearing pertaining to “Car 
Wash” as a Conditional Use within the C-2, General Commercial Zoning District.  
Commissioners felt that the Planning Board’s concern of noise could be addressed by an 
on-site attendant however the concerns of litter and possible after hours activities could 

not be addressed.  The Board of Commissioners voted to deny the request as presented 
and directed staff to return with a version of the amendment incorporating the 
requirement for an on-site attendant as well as additional storm water measures. 

 
- July 3, 2016 - The Board of Commissioners began the Public Hearing, following staff’s 

presentation on the revised ordinance, public comment was taken.  Significant revisions 

were proposed requiring re-advertisement of the proposed amendment.  The Public 
Hearing was set for the Boards August meeting. 
 

- August 7, 1989 – The Board of Commissioners adopted the text amendment which 
incorporated the requirement that the car wash have on on-site attendant.   
 

- September 6, 1989 – Parking standards for car washes was discussed and later adopted.   
 

Staff would encourage Planning Board members to refer to last month’s packet for to review 

any of these meeting minutes.    
 
June 21, 2016 Updated Information:  Following requests made by the Planning Board at its 

May 17, 2016 meeting, numerous revisions have been made to the proposed ordinance to 
include: 

- A site attendant must visit the site a minimum of two times daily to ensure proper 

operation. 

- Security cameras must be installed to record activity in vulnerable locations. 

- Hours of operation have been established, this is what the Board of Commissioners 

recommended in the initial amendment from October, 1988.  

- A minimum setback of 50 ft. has been applied to any freestanding vacuums and other 
service areas adjacent to a residential use or district. 



3 

- Clarification on what the word “enclosed” represents and the need to comply with Town 
Architectural Design criteria. 

- Clarification that the required buffer must be continual and opaque.  The buffer 
requirement on this site would not be subject to the clustering and grouping of plantings 
afforded in other scenarios. 

 
Staff would note that the applicant was provided a copy of the draft ordinance prior to inclusion 
in the packet for review and comment. The applicant has indicated that he is in agreement with 

the language except for the hours of operation. The applicant would request consideration for 
no specific limitation on the hours of operation. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Based upon the history of discussion surrounding the previous Board’s desires for any car wash 

to have an attendant on-site during all hours of operation, Planning Staff recommends denial of 
the proposed text amendment as presented.    
 
Updated Staff Recommendation:  Staff continues to recommend denial of the proposed 

ordinance as amended. Staff does not believe that the 50 foot setback adjacent to residential 
zoning districts or uses is adequate to mitigate noise concerns based on the proposed use.   



4 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 
OF THE TOWN OF NAGS HEAD, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
ARTICLE I.  Purpose(s) and Authority. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 160A-381, the Town of Nags Head (the “Town”) may enact 

and amend ordinances regulating the zoning and development of land within its jurisdiction and 
specifically the location and use of buildings, structures and land. Pursuant to this authority and 
the additional authority granted by N.C.G.S. Chap. 160A, Art. 19 et. seq, the Town has adopted 

a comprehensive zoning ordinance (the “Town’s Zoning Ordinance”) and has codified the same 
as Chapter 48 of the Town’s Code of Ordinances (the “Town Code”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 160A-174 the Town may also enact and amend ordinances 

that define, prohibit, regulate, or abate acts, omissions, or conditions, detrimental to the health, 
safety, or welfare of its citizens and the peace and dignity of the Town; and 

WHEREAS, A text amendment was initiated by an applicant to eliminate the requirement that 

a car wash operation have an on-site attendant during hours of operation.  
 
WHEREAS, the 2010 Land Use Plan states that the Town shall continue to address the 
community appearance concerns through various Boards and shall work towards developing 

incentives designed to enhance, promote and protect the Town’s architectural image and 
heritage;  
 

WHEREAS, the Town further finds that in accordance with the findings above it is not in the 
interest of and contrary to the public's health, safety, morals and general welfare for the Town 
to amend the Town’s Zoning Ordinance and Town Code of Ordinances as stated below. 

ARTICLE II. Construction. 

For purposes of this ordinance amendment, underlined words (underline) shall be considered as 
additions to existing Town Code language and strikethrough words (strikethrough) shall be 

considered deletions to existing language.  Any portions of the adopted Town Code which are 
not repeated herein, but are instead replaced by an ellipses (“...”) shall remain as they currently 
exist within the Town Code. 

ARTICLE III. Amendment of Zoning Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Nags 
Head, North Carolina, that the Town Code shall be amended as follows:  

 
PART I. That Section 48-407(c)(9), Conditional Uses within the C-2, General 

Commercial District, be amended as follows:  

 
 (9) An attended cCar washes (automated and self-service enclosed only), subject to 

other requirements of this chapter and provided that the following conditions are 

met:  
 

a. The attendant shall be present on-site during all hours of operation; An 

attendant shall visit and assess the site a minimum of two times daily during 
all hours of operation to ensure a clean, orderly operation.  Security cameras 
shall be installed in areas of vulnerability. 



5 

b. The hours of operation shall be between 9:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m.  
 

c.b.No principal or accessory building shall be located within 50 feet of an 
existing residential use or district. No freestanding vacuums, air compressors, 
or other vehicular servicing areas shall be located within 50 feet of an 

existing residential use or district. 
 

d.c.A car wash shall be constructed so as to allow vehicles to pass through the 

structure in order to create an orderly traffic flow. Furthermore, stacking 
spaces shall be provided for vehicles entering and exiting the site to minimize 
traffic congestion on public roads.  

 
e. A car wash shall be enclosed on at least two sides with open bays and a roof 

structure.  A car wash must comply with the architectural design standards of 

Town Code Section 48-371. 
 
fd.  The boundaries of the entire site shall be buffered from all adjacent 

properties and rights-of-way in accordance with subsection 48-482(1), buffer 

yard A. This buffer yard shall be continuous and opaque. 
 
ge. The site shall be designed to contain all stormwater from impervious surfaces 

on-site from a ten-year, two-hour storm event, the equivalent being 4.24 
inches of rainfall in a two-hour period consistent with the applicable 
standards of Town Code Chapter 34 – Stormater, Fill, and Runoff 

Management.  
 
h.f. The car wash shall utilize a recyclable water type system. 

 
i. Car washes shall only be located on properties with frontage on US 158. 

 

PART II.     All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the ___ day of ____ 
2016. 

 Robert C. Edwards, Mayor 
       Town of Nags Head 

ATTEST: 

Carolyn F. Morris, Town Clerk 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Town Attorney 

Date adopted: 

Motion to adopt by Commissioner  
Motion seconded by Commissioner  
Vote: AYES NAYS 

https://www2.municode.com/library/




1 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 
TO: Planning Board  

FROM: Andy Garman, Deputy Town Manager  

Kelly Wyatt, Deputy Planning Director 

DATE: June 17, 2016 

SUBJECT: Discussion of Cottage Courts as permissible uses within the Town. 

 
 
Last month the Planning Board held its initial discussion regarding the expansion of cottage 

court uses within the Town. For the past 30 years, cottage courts have been considered a 
nonconforming use by the town’s ordinance. Therefore, no expansions to these properties have 
been allowed except for general maintenance and repairs. The Planning Board is now reviewing 

ordinances that would reinstate cottage courts as an allowable use based on recent discussions 
regarding diversity of accommodations within the town. The main goal is to improve the variety 
of accommodations within the town, including transient uses such as hotels and cottage courts, 
to provide more opportunities for short-stay visitors. This is also in light of the continued loss of 

older hotels and short stay accommodations. 
 
Last month staff provided the Planning Board with some background information on developing 

a cottage court ordinance. This included a map and photographs of existing cottage courts, 
sample ordinances from other communities, and the town’s ordinance for residential group 
developments. After some discussion, staff suggested selecting five cottage court properties 

within the town and analyzing the existing development features and characteristics to develop 
standards for an ordinance. The five properties included for the analysis were: 2 Fish Cay, Sea 
Spray Cottages, Sandspur Cottages, Oceanside Court, and Cahoon’s Cottages. Photos of these 

five properties are attached as well as a table showing the building square footages of the 
individual cottages at each property. Staff has included the map from last month since this 
depicts the location of each cottage court and the total acreage of each property.  

 
A draft ordinance is provided for the Planning Board’s review which includes regulations to 
address the following concerns: 

 
 Location 

 Size and arrangement 

 Architectural design and orientation 

 Density 

 Building separation and setbacks 

 Minimum lot size 

 Lot coverage 

 Driveway access 

 Off-street parking and loading facilities 



2 

 Refuse and recycling 

 Cottage court properties with existing nonconformities 

In addition to examining the characteristics of the five cottage court sites, staff has also utilized 
some of the standards from the residential group development ordinance as well as other 

existing ordinances to develop the draft ordinance. Staff will provide a detailed overview of the 
draft ordinance at the upcoming meeting. Planning Board members are encouraged to review 
the sample ordinance and cottage housing ordinance guide from last month in preparation for 

the discussion. 
 
Attachments: 

 
- Cottage Court Map 

- Cottage Court Photos 

- Table with Building Square Footages 

- Draft Cottage Court Ordinance 



S unnyside  Manage me nt
4

1.78

NC 12 HWY

S VIRGINIA DARE TRL

NO NAME

COLONY SOUTH DR

S OLD OREGON INLET RD
BODIE ISLE CT

GULFSTREAM WAY

ORIENTAL STWESTSIDE CT

LIMULUS DR

IDA
 ST OREGON DR

SPENCER STJA
ME

S S
T

HU
NT

ER
 ST

MCCALL CT

GE
RH

AR
D S

T

INLET CT CHAWANOOK CT

PELICAN STS CROATAN HWY

S OLD OREGON INLET RD
Dune  S outh

16
5.69

 
3

1.26

 
3

1.14

Ge ri’s Place
11

2.07

 
2

0.71

 
2

0.71
 
4

0.64

Bluffs Condos
3

1.64

Laughing Gull Condos
8

2.35
Cahoons Cottage s

8
1.99

Viking Court Condo
6

1.94

Casual Cove  Condos
2

1.52

 
2

0.33

 
2

0.31
Rode w ay Hote l

5
0.82

 
2

0.15
 
2

0.14

Eighte e n S outh Condos
3

2.51

Marine rs Landing Condos
4

1.18
W hale bone  Mote l

1
0.72

S ome place  S pe cial, LLC
4

0.2

Town of Nags Head, NC
Cottage Courts

Last Updated December 30, 2015

Name
# Units

Acre age

Bonne tt S tre e t Are a Danube  S tre e t Are a W hale bone  Junction Are a

S outh Nags He ad

S VIRGINIA DARE TRL

LA
KE

SID
E S

T FO
RB

ES
 ST

BAYMEADOW DR

SANDBAR DR

GULFSTREAM WAY

OLD AVE

GL
IDD

EN
 ST

SE
A S

PR
AY

 CT

S CROATAN HWY

 
6

1.3

Laughing Gull Condos
8

2.35
Cahoons Cottage s

8
1.99

S andspur Cottage s
11

1.63

 
2

0.33

Oce anside  Court
10

1.02

 
2

0.31
Rode w ay Hote l

5
0.82

 
3

0.2
 
2

0.25

 
2

0.25

Be ach House  Condos
6

0.91

 
2

0.15
 
2

0.14

W hale bone  Mote l
1

0.72

S ome place  S pe cial, LLC
4

0.2

S CROATAN HWY

SOUNDSIDE RD

DA
NU

BE
 ST

SE
AC

HA
SE

 DR

DE
ER

ING
 ST

LINKS DR

COBIA WAY

ROANOKE WAY

HESPERIDES DR

RIDGE LN

RIDGEVIEW WAY BLUE MARLIN WAY

PAMLICO WAY

COBBS WAY

POMPANO CT

OL
D C

OV
E R

D

SANDPIPER TERR

MA
LL

 DR

HAMMERHEAD DR

THIRTEENTH ST

STURGEON DR

DARIA DR

S VIRGINIA DARE TRL

 
4

0.69

 
3

0.43

Cavalie r Cottage s
2

0.52

 
3

0.25

OLD NAGS HEAD WOODS RD

VILLA DUNES DR

BA
RN

ES
 ST

LINDA LN
S WRIGHTSVILLE AVE

S MEMORIAL AVE

LARK AVE

BA
LT

IC 
ST

PILOT LN

CROATAN HWY

MEMORIAL AVE
BO

NN
ET

T S
T

BLUE JAY ST

MEEKINS AVEOAK KNOLL DR

WO
OD

HIL
L D

R

PAMLICO AVE

BUCCANEER DR

BR
IDG

E L
N

COMPASS LN

BARK ST

LOOKOUT RD

BL
AC

KM
AN

 ST

AD
AM

S L
N

NAGS WAY CT

BE
CK

ER
 ST

POND AVE

CR
OC

KE
R R

D

SA
TT

ER
FIE

LD
 LA

ND
ING

 RD

CUTTY SARK LN

CO
NC

H S
TONETO LN

S VIRGINIA DARE TRL

CROATAN HWYS CROATAN HWY

 
2

0.5

 
3

0.47

2Fish, LLC
5

0.5

 
2

0.23

 
2

0.17

S e a S pray Cottage s
5

0.48S chmade r House  (var)
2

0.17



2 Fish Cay 

 

Cahoon Cottages 

 

  



Sea Spray Cottages 

 

Oceanside Court 

 

  



Sandspur 

 



YEAR_BUILT Heated Sq Ft Name

1950 690.00         2FISH

1950 703.00         2FISH

1950 705.00         2FISH

1950 713.00         2FISH

1950 1,958.00     2FISH

1960 812.00         CAHOONS

1960 848.00         CAHOONS

1960 888.00         CAHOONS

1960 910.00         CAHOONS

1960 1,004.00     CAHOONS

1960 1,177.00     CAHOONS

1960 1,320.00     CAHOONS

1960 2,528.00     CAHOONS

1955 486.00         OCEANSIDE COURT

1955 676.00         OCEANSIDE COURT

1955 706.00         OCEANSIDE COURT

1955 708.00         OCEANSIDE COURT

1955 712.00         OCEANSIDE COURT

1955 723.00         OCEANSIDE COURT

1955 877.00         OCEANSIDE COURT

1955 3,082.00     OCEANSIDE COURT

1955 647.00         SANDSPUR

1955 711.00         SANDSPUR

1955 714.00         SANDSPUR

1955 733.00         SANDSPUR

1955 761.00         SANDSPUR

1955 764.00         SANDSPUR

1955 1,996.00     SANDSPUR

1955 2,120.00     SANDSPUR

1955 2,753.00     SANDSPUR

1955 4,911.00     SANDSPUR
1950 519.00         SEA SPRAY

1950 525.00         SEA SPRAY

1950 774.00         SEA SPRAY

1950 1,907.00     SEA SPRAY

1950 1,954.00     SEA SPRAY



Draft Town of Nags Head Cottage Court Ordinance 

 

  Page 1 

Sec. 48-7. – Definitions of specific words and terms. 

Cottage court means multiple residential buildings detached single-family dwellings on one lot. 

Since August 5, 1985, no such development has been allowed in this jurisdiction. Any such 

development legally existing on that date became a nonconforming use. Cottage courts shall be 

designed and intended for transient guests on a rental basis, with the exception of living 

quarters for on-site management. 

Sec. 48-378. – Cottage Courts.  

Cottage Courts are permitted as a conditional use in the CR, C-2, and R-2 zoning districts, 
provided the following requirements and conditions are met:  

(a) Location. Cottage Courts shall only be located on properties with frontage on NC 12 or 
SR 1243. 

(b) Size and arrangement. Individual dwelling units must be designed and arranged for 
occupancy by one family operating as a housekeeping unit and shall contain at least 
eight hundred (800) and no more than two thousand (2,000) square feet of gross floor 
area. One structure may be larger than the maximum size if it is combined with on-site 
management or another complementary accessory or principal use. 

(c) Architectural design.  

(1) Individual units must receive at least 75 architectural design points based on the 
criteria established in the Town of Nags Head Residential Design Guidelines (See 
Appendix A).  

(2) Individual cottages shall not contain more than one and one-half (1 ½) stories.  

(3) Dwelling units shall meet the minimum roof pitch requirements established in the 
Town of Nags Head Residential Design Guidelines. 

(4) Dwelling units shall not contain enclosed attached or detached garages but may 
contain an open parking area underneath the structure. 

(5) Cottages shall be oriented towards a common open space or shared drive aisle.  

(d) Density. Cottage courts shall not contain more than ten (10) individual dwelling units. 

(e) Building separation and setbacks. Dwelling units shall be separated from one another 
by a minimum of ten (10) feet, including projections. Dwelling units shall have a 
minimum fifteen (15) foot front yard setback, eight (8) foot side yard setback, and 
twenty-five (25) foot rear yard setback. 

(f) Minimum lot size. Cottage court lots must be at least 20,000 square feet in area. The 
area of an oceanfront lot east of the first line of stable natural vegetation or static 
vegetation line shall not be used in the calculation of lot area for the purpose of 
determining the minimum lot size for cottage court development. 



Draft Town of Nags Head Cottage Court Ordinance 

 

  Page 2 

(g) Lot coverage. The lot coverage shall not exceed 55 percent. When performing lot 
coverage calculations, the residential lot coverage calculation sheet included with the 
site development application, as amended, shall be completed and submitted for 
review and approval.  

(1) Permeable pavement: 

a. For the purposes of determining lot coverage, the total square footage of 
permeable pavement materials is multiplied by 0.67.  

b. Permeable pavement materials include porous concrete, permeable 
interlocking concrete pavers, concrete grid pavers, TurfstoneTM, and other 
proven technologies available as covered in the NC Best Management 
Practices Manual and as approved by the town engineer for appropriateness 
to the site and existing conditions. Porous concrete shall be designed and 
installed in accordance with ACI specifications, or equivalent standard, with 
hydrological, operation and maintenance considerations. Installation shall be 
conducted by a contractor certified in the installation of the type of pavement 
system chosen.  

c. The town encourages use of pervious materials and new technologies that 
provide for safe and efficient driveway and parking areas and that 
appropriately address stormwater runoff issues. A minimum of 20 percent of 
the surface area of the parking area and drive aisles shall be constructed using 
permeable surface materials, unless it can be demonstrated that a 
topographic or hydrologic constraint exists that would limit its use and 
effectiveness.  

d. No porous concrete shall be used east of NC 1243 (South Old Oregon Inlet 
Road) or NC 12 (South Virginia Dare Trail). Compacted gravel shall not be 
considered permeable pavement.  

(2) In the case of an oceanfront lot, only that area landward of the first line of stable 
natural vegetation or static vegetation line (as defined by CAMA) shall be used for 
calculating lot coverage. Where an oceanfront lot has little or no stable natural 
vegetation, the line of such vegetation shall be a line extending between the 
nearest such vegetation existing north and south of the lot.  

(h) Driveway access. Each dwelling unit shall have access to a shared accessway. The 
shared accessway must be a minimum of 20 feet in width and meet the reasonable 
requirements of the fire marshal for access by firefighting apparatus. An accessway 
width less than 20 feet may be reviewed and approved by the fire marshal in 
conjunction with an approved alternative life safety plan. 

(i) Off-street parking and loading facilities. Individual units shall have a minimum of two 
(2) parking spaces. Parking spaces for each dwelling unit shall be provided so as not to 
interfere with the shared accessway or with the access of emergency or service vehicles 
to the entire property. Shared parking areas may be utilized to accommodate the total 



Draft Town of Nags Head Cottage Court Ordinance 

 

  Page 3 

parking requirements for the development. Parking spaces and drive aisles shall not be 
located closer than five (5) feet to side or rear property lines. Parking spaces shall not 
be located with direct access from the right-of-way. 

(j) Refuse and recycling. Cottage courts shall provide a suitable location for a dumpster as 
determined by the Director of Public Works. Dumpster areas shall be appropriately 
screened and shall not be located in the required front yard of the property. 

(k) On a site to be used for cottage court development, existing residential structures, 
which may become nonconforming with respect to the standards of this section, may 
be permitted to remain however the extent of the nonconformity shall not be 
increased. 




